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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Meridian Medical Research & 

Hospital Limited ("the Company"), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021, the 

Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Cash Flows 

and the Statement of Changes in Equ ity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the financial 

statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 

aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act") 

in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting 

Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, ("Ind AS") and other accounting principles generally accepted 

in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2021, its profit, total comprehensive 

income, its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 

specified under section 143(10) of the Act (SAs). Our responsibilities under those Standards are 

further described in the Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 

our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued 

by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements 

that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the 

Rules made thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements and the ICAI's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by 

us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements. 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 37 of the Fint1nciul Statements which describes the management's 
assessment of the circumstances arising due to COVID-19, the uncertainties associated with its 
nature and duration and the consequential impact of the same on the financial statements of the 
Company. The Company as of the reporting date does not expect any long term adverse impact of 
COVID-19 on its ability to recover the carrying value of its current assets and non-current assets 
including trade receivables, property, plant and equipment. However, a definitive assessment of the 
impact is highly dependent upon circumstances as they evolve in future and the actual results may 

differ from those estimated as at the date of approval of these financial statements. 
Our Opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Directors' report, but does not include the financial 

statements and our auditor's report thereon. 
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act 

with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the 

financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and 

changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the Ind AS and other accounting principles 

generally accepted in India. 

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting 

frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 

judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and 

maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the 

accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation 

of the financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company 

or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting 

process. 

Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obldi11 r ed~u11a1Jle assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken' on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

v audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
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not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we 

are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal 

financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a 

going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern . 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the financial statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors 
in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to 
evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the financial statements . 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit. 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report that: 

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belid were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company 
so far as it appears from our examination of those books. 

c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive 
Income, the Statement of.Cash Flows and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this 

Report are in agreement -with the books of account. ·' · -· 

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting 
Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act. 

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Company as 
on March 31, 2021 taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is 
disqualified as on March 31, 2021 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164(2) of the Act. 

y 
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f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the 

Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in 
"Annexure A". Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating 

effectiveness of the Company's internal financial controls over financial reporting. 

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with 

the requirements of Section 197(16) of the Act, as amended, in our opinion and to the best 

of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Company has not paid 
any managerial remuneration during the year ended March 31, 2021 and hence reporting 

under Section 197 of the Act is not applicable. 

h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with 

Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and 

to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us: 

i. The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial 

position; 
ii . The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for 

which there were any material foreseeable losses. 

Iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor 

Education and Protection Fund by the Company. 

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2016 ("the Order") issued by the Central 

Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in "Annexure B" a statement on the 

matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order. 

Place : Ahmedabad 

Date : May 31, 2021 

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

(Firm's Registration No.117366W/Wl00018) 

Monisha Parikh 
Partner 

(Membership No.47840) 

UDIN : 21047840AAAACJ6412 
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ANNEXURE "A" TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
(Referred to in paragraph l(f) under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' 

section of our report of even date) 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub­

section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act") 

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Meridian Medical 
Research & Hospital Limited ("the Company") as of March 31, 2021 in conjunction with our audit 
of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient 
conduct of its business, including adherence to respective company's policies, the safeguarding of 
its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under 

the Companies Act, 2013. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the "Guidance Note") issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10) 
of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls 
over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in 
all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of 
internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control b.:iscd on the 
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls system over financial reporting. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company's internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 

V 
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company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 

unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including 

the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the 

internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in 

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 

Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as 

at March 31, 2021, based on the criteria for internal financial control over financial reporting 
establ ished by Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 

Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India . 

Place : Ahmedabad 
Date : May 31, 2021 

..•. 

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

(Firm's Registration No.117366W/W100018) 

~ "-, k 

Monisha Parikh 

Partner 

(Membership No.47840) 

UDIN : 21047840AAAACJ6412 
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ANNEXURE B TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 'S REPORT 

(Referred to in paragraph 2 under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' 

section of our report of even date) 

(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars including 

quantitative details and situation of fixed assets. 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

(vii) 

(b) 

(c) 

The Company has a program of verification of fixed assets to cover all the items in a 
phased manner over a period of three years which, in our opinion, is reasonable having 
regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the program, 
certain fixed assets were physically verified by the Management during the year. 
According to the information and explanations given to us, no material discrepancies 
were noticed on such verification. 

According to the information and explanations given to us and the records examined by 
us and based on the examination of the registered conveyance deed provided to us, we 
report that, the title deeds, comprising all the immovable properties of freehold land 
and building, are held in the name of the Company as at the balance sheet date. 

As explained to us, the inventories were physically verified during the year by the 

Management at reasonable intervals and no material discrepancies were noticed on 

physical verification. 

The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, 

limited liability partnerships or other parties covered in the register maintained under 

section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013. 

The Company has not granted any loans, made investments or provided guarantees and 

hence reporting under clause (iv) of the Order is not applicable. 

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not 

accepted any deposit during the year and does not have any unclaimed deposits. 

The maintenance of cost records has been specified by the Central Government under 

section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of services rendered. We have 

broadly reviewed the cost records maintained by the Company pursuant to the 

Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, as amended prescribed by the Central 

Government under sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, and are 

of the opinion LI 1dl, µr i111d fdcit=, Lile prescribed cost records have been made and 

maintained. We have, however, not made a detailed examination of the cost records 

with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete. 

According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues: 

(a) The Company has· generally been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues, 

including Provfdent Fund, Employees' State Insurance, Income-tax, Good~
1 

and Services 

Tax, Customs Duty, cess and other material statutory dues applicable to it to the 

appropriate authorities. 

(b) There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Provident Fund, Employees' 

State Insurance, Income-tax, Goods and Services Tax, Customs Duty, cess and other 

material statutory dues in arrears as at March 31, 2021 for a period of more than six 

months from the date they became payable. 

V 
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( c) There are no unpaid dues of Income-tax, Goods and Service Tax and Customs Duty as 

on March 31, 2021 on account of disputes. 

(viii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 

Company has not defaulted in the repayment of loans to banks. The Company has not 

taken any loans or borrowings from financial institutions and government and has not 

issued any debentures. 

(ix) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, money 

raised by way of term loans have been applied by the Company during the year for the 

purposes for which they were raised. The Company has not raised moneys by way of 

initial public offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) . 

(x) To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given 

to us, no fraud by the Company and no material fraud on the Company by its officers 

or employees has been noticed or reported during the year. 

(xi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 

Company has not paid any managerial remuneration during the year ended March 31, 

2021 and hence reporting under clause (xi) of the Order is not applicable. 

(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under clause (xii) of the 

Order is not applicable. 

(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us the 

Company is in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Companies Act, 2013, where 

applicable, for all transactions with the related parties and the details of related party 

transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements etc. as required by the 

applicable accounting standards. 

(xiv) During the year, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private 

placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures and hence reporting under 

clause (xiv) of this Order is not applicable to the Company. 

(xv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, during the 

year the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors / 

directors of its holding company or persons connected with them and hence provisions 

of section 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable. 

(xvi) The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank 

of India Act, 1934. 

Place : Ahmedabad 

Date : May 31, 2021 

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

(Firm's Registration No.H7366W/W100018) 

Monisha Parikh 
Partner 

(Membership No.47840) 
UDIN: 21047840AAAACJ6412 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Ba lance sheet 

Particulars 

ASSETS 

Non-current asset6 

Property, plant and equipment 

Right of use assets 

Capital work-in-progress 

Financial assets 

(i) Loans 

(ii) Other financial assets 

Deferred tax assets (net) 

Other non-current assets 

Total non-current assets 

Current assets 

Inventories 

Financial assets 

(i) Trade receivables 

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

(iii) Bank balances other than (ii) above 

(iv) Loans 

(v) Other financial assets 

Other current assets 

Total current assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 

Equity share capital 

Other equity 

Total equity 

Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 

(ii) Lease liabilities 

Provisions 

Total non-current liabilities 

Current Liabilities 

Financial liabilities 

(i) Lease liabilities 

(ii) Trade payables 

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 

(iii) Other financial liabilities 

Provisions 

Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Significant accounting policies 

The. accompanying noteE form an integral part of thoac finnncinl 5tatcmcnt~. 

As per our report of even date attached 

for Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Monisha Parikh 

Partner 

Place: Ahmedabad 

Date: May 3 I, 2021 

Note No 

4 

5 

4 

6(a) 

7(a) 

30 

8(a) 

9 

10 

11 

11 

6(b) 

7(b) 

8(b) 

12 

13 

14(a) 

15(a) 

16(a) 

15(b) 

17 

18 

16(b) 

19 

3 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

8,872.45 

690 74 

25.12 

138.90 

10.l l 

181.41 

910.36 

10,829.09 

21l.l6 

1,979.50 

592.96 

27.78 

17.16 

115_22 

144.72 

3,088.50 

13 917.59 

2,927.88 

3,503.12 

6,431.00 

2,161.90 

573.96 

25.92 

2,761.78 

162.23 

136.65 

2,671.68 

1,129.37 

109.30 

515.58 

4,724.81 

13,917.59 

for and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Viren Prasad Shetty 

Director 

DIN: 02144586 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 3 I, 2021 

1 k1lm~r Pandya 

Dr. Emmanuel Rupert 

Director 

DJN: 07010883 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 

~ 
Chief Financial Officer nipany Secretary 

Place: Kolkata Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 Date: May 31, 2021 

:t' in Lakhs 

As at 

March 31 2020 

9,003.00 

832.68 

8.14 

134.88 

3.78 

200.19 

1,301.50 

11,484.17 

251.91 

1,839.32 

193.23 

20.13 

17.16 

65.33 

133.17 

2,520.25 

14 004.42 

2,927-88 

3,384.36 

6,312.24 

2,656.11 

736.19 

47.45 

3,439.75 

98.72 

44.09 

2,592.38 

1,083A0 

124.00 

309.84 

4,252.43 

14,004.42 

Rakesh Verma 

Chief Executive Officer 

Place: Kolkata 

Date: May 31, 2021 

', 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Statement of profit and loss 

Particulars 

Income 

Revenue from operations 

Other income 

Total income (A) 

Expenses 

Purchase of medical consumables, drugs and surgical instruments 

Changes in inventories of medical consumables, drugs and surgical 

instruments 

Employee benefits expense 

Professional fees to doctors 

Other expenses 

Expenses before finance cost, depreciation and amortisation (B) 

Earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax (A-B) 

Fi nan ce costs ( C ) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense (D) 

Total expenses (E) = (B+C+D) 

Profit before tax (F) =(A-E) 

Tax expenses 

Current Tax 

MAT Credit Entitlement 

Deferred tax charge 

Total tax expense (G) 

Profit for the year H=(F-G) 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 

Re-measurement of defined benefit plans 

Income tax effect 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year, net of tax 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Earnings per share 

Basic & Diluted 

Significant accounting policies 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

As per our report of even date attached 

for Oeloitt~ H11skin~ & Sells LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Monisha Parikh 

Partner 

Place: Ahmedabad 

Date: May 31, 2021 

Note 

No 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

30 

32 

3 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

17,119.21 

119.60 

17,238.81 

5,327.46 

40.75 

2,634.38 

4,284.21 

3,398.41 

15,685.21 

1,553.60 

312.35 

1,074.51 

17,072.o? 

166.74 

27.25 

(27.25) 

46.57 

46.57 

120.17 

(1.95) 

0.54 

(1.41! 

118.76 

0.41 

fur aml on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

'tin Lakhs 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

19,599.43 

52.20 

19,651.63 

4,661.15 

81.04 

2,662.09 

5,094.98 

3,532.75 

16,032.01 

3,619.62 

452.44 

1,028.55 

17,513.00 

2 138.63 

365.67 

(365.67) 

596.38 

596.38 

I 542.25 

(19.81) 

5.51 

{14.30} 

1527.95 

5.31 

Viren Prasad Shetty 

Director 

Dr. Emmanuel Rupert Rakesh Verma 

DIN: 02144586 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 

~ ya 

ChiefFinancial Officer 

Place: Kolkata 

Date: May 31, 2021 

Director Chief Executive Officer 

DIN: 07010883 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 

Hrishikesh V Murthy 

Company Secretary 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 

Place: Kolkata 

Date: May 31, 2021 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Statement of cash flows 

Particulars 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit for the year 

Adjustments : 

lncome Tax Expense 

Provision for loss allowance 

Depreciation and amortisation 

Interest income 

Finance costs 

Expense on employee stock option scheme 

Loss on sale of Property, plant and equipment 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 

Changes in trade receivables 

Changes in inventories 

Changes in loans, other financial assets and other assets 

Changes in trade payables and other financials liabilities 

Changes in provision 

Cash generated from operations 

Income taxes (paid)/ Refund Received (Net) 

Net cash generated from operating activities (A) 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 

Investment in bank deposits 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 

Interest received 

Net cash (used in) investing activities (B) 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Proceeds from long-term borrowings 

Repayment oflong-term borrowings 

Payment oflease liabilities (refer note 29) 

Proceeds from issue of equity shares 

Interest and other borrowing costs 

Net cash (used in) financing activities (C) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (refer note 11)* 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 11) 

Significant accounting policies 3 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

120.17 

46.57 

(3.14) 

1,074.51 

(79.03) 

312.35 

5.27 

1,476.70 

(137.04) 

40.75 

(83 .44) 

378.32 

(38.19) 

1,637.10 

374.79 

2,011.89 

(509.14) 

(13.98) 

3.69 

79.03 

(440.40) 

164.70 

(925.39) 

(167.78) 

(243.29) 

(1 ,171.76) 

399.73 

193.23 

592.96 

fin Lakhs 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

1,542.25 

596.38 

85.05 

1,028.55 

(4.55) 

452.44 

0.57 

3.15 

3,703.84 

(21.16) 

81.04 

104.44 

(458.28) 

23.88 

3,433.76 

(673.82) 

2,759.94 

(978.92) 

(4.93) 

22.32 

4.55 

(956.98) 

(1,305.72) 

(99.78) 

250.00 

(378.25) 

(1,533.75) 

269.21 

(75.98) 

193.23 

* Cash and cash equivalent includes bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash management. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

As per our report of even date attached 

for Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Chartered Accountants 

~ \-i · u_ 

Monisha Parikh 

Partner 

Place: Ahrnedabad 

Date: May 31 , 2021 

Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 
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Director 

DIN: 02144586 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31 , 2021 

,~ a 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Kolkata 

Date: May 31, 2021 

Dr. Emmanuel Rupert 

Director 

DIN: 07010883 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 

s ikesh V Murthy 

Company Secretary 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 

~ 
Rakesh Verma 

Chief Executive Officer 

Place: Kolkata 

Date: May 31, 2021 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2021 

(n) Equity ~hnrc cnpirnl 

Pnrticulnrs 

Equity shares oHRs. 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid up 

Balance as at April 1, 2019 

Changes in equity share capital during the year 

Issue of equity shares (refer note 12) 

Balance as at March 31, 2020 

Changes in equity share capital during the year 

Issue of equity shares (refer note 12) 

Balance as at March 31
1 

2021 

(b) Other enuity 

Particulars 

Balance ns nt April I, 2019 

Profit for the year 

Other romprehensivc income (OCI) (not of ta.~) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Employee stock option expense during the year 

Premium on issue of equity shares 

Impact of adoption of Ind AS 116 (net of tax) 

Balance as at March 31, 2020 

Profit for the year 

Other comprehensive income (QC!) (net of tax) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Balance as at March 31, 2021 

As per our report of even date attached 

for Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP 

Chartered' Accountants 

Monisha Parikh 

Partner 

Place: Ahmedabad 

Date: May 31, 2021 

f' in Lllkhs cxccut No. of hnrcs) 
o. of Shares A.mouni 

2,90,21,300 

2,57,520 

2,92,78,820 

2,92,78,820 

Securities 

Premium Reserve 

3,442.00 

224.25 

3,666.25 

3,666.25 

2,902.13 

25.75 

2,927.88 

2,927.88 

Reserves & Sumlui 

Deemed Capital 

Contribution 

13.65 

0.57 

14.22 

14.22 

Retained earnings 

(1 ,1J 1.42) 

1,542.25 

1,542.25 

(51.43) 

(220.60) 

120,17 

120.17 

(100.43) 

for and on behalfofthe Board of Directors of 

Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Items of OCI 

Remeasurements of 

the net defined 

benefit Plans 

(61.21) 

(14.30) 

(14.30) 

(75.51) 

(1.41) 

(1.41) 

(76.92) 

',, r \ ~ ~ 
Viren Prasad Shelly Dr. Emmanuel Rupert Rakesh Verma 

Director 

DIN: 02144586 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31 , 2021 

~ 
~mitkumar Pandya 

ChiefFinancial Officer 

Place: Kolkata 

Date: May 31, 2021 

Director 

DIN: 07010883 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31 , 2021 

~ ' 
Company Secretary 

Place: Bengaluru 

Date: May 31, 2021 

Chief Executive Officer 

Place: Kolkata 

Date: May 31, 2021 

{'fin Lnkhs) 

Total other equity 

1,683.02 

1,542.25 

(14.30) 

1,527.95 

0.57 

224.25 

(51.43) 

3,384.36 

120.17 

( 1.41 ) 

118.76 

3,503.12 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 

1. Company overview 

Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited ('the Company') was incorporated on 08 May 1995 under the 
Companies Act, 1956. The Company is engaged in e tablishing, promoting, owning, letting, managing and 
maintaining hospitals, clinics, health centers, nursing home in all djsciplines of medicine and without limitation 
to run and administer healthcare schemes. 

2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements 

2.1. Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance of Indian Accounting Standards (lnd AS) as per 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 notified under Section 133 of Companies Act 2013 
(the 'Act) and other re.levant provisions and amendment rules issued thereafter. 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company's Board of Directors on May 31, 
2021. 

Details of the accounting policies are included in Note 3. 

2.2. Going concern 

The Company has positive net worth a at the balance sheet date. Narayana Hrudayalaya Limited, Holding 

Company which continues to support the Company through equity infusion and acting as a corporate 

guarantor for long-term loans availed by the Company from the financial institutions and banks. Whilst the 

current liabilities of the Company exceed its current assets as of March 31, 2021 the financial statements 

have been drawn up on a going concern basis in view of the support letter received from the Holding 
Company confirming their continued financial support to the Company to enable it to continue its operations 

and settle its obligations as and when they become due over the next twelve-month period. 

2.3. Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees C), which is also the Company's functional 

currency. All amounts are presented in Indian Rupees, except share data and per share data, unless otherwise 
stated. 

2.4. Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis under the historical cost convention except 

for certain financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period 
except for the following items: 

Items Measurement basis 

Certain financial assets and liabilities Fair value 

w Net defined benefit (asset)/ liability 
Fair value of plan assets less present value of 

defined benefit obligations 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

2.5. Use of estimates and judgements 

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized prospectively. 

Judgements 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on 

the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes: 

Note 29 - leases and lease classification; 

- Note 36 - financial instrwnents 

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk ofresulting 

in a material adjustment in the year ending 31 March 2021 is included in the following notes: 

- Note 30 - recognition of tax expense 

- Note 34 - measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions; 

- Note 27 - recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies· key assumptions about the 

likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources; 

- Note 6, 7, 10, 36- recognition of impairment of financial assets and 

- Note 4 - useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

2.6. Measurement of fair values 

A number of the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for 

both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the 

valuation techniques as follows: 

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

eith~r directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far as 

possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the 

fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair 

value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period 

during which the change has occurred. Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair 

va lues is included in Note 36 - financial instruments. 

V 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

3. Significant accounting polices 

3.1. Financial instruments 

a. Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial 

liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value 

through profit and loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 

b. Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at 
amortised cost; or 

- FVTPL 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the 

Company changes its business model for managing financial assets. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost as described above are measured at FVTPL. 

On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 

requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVTPL if doing so e.liminates or significantly reduces 

an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets: Business model assessment 

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held 

at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to 

management. The information considered includes: 

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These 

include whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a 

particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related 

liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's management; 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and how those risks are managed; 

bow managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of 
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales 

and expectations about future sales activity. 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions tha do not qualify for derecognition are not 

considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company's continuing recognition of the assets. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis are measured at FVTPL. 

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 

recognition. 'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time vallle of money and for the credit risk 

associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic 

lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company 

considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains 

a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not 

meet this condition. In making thfa assessment, the Company considers: 

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features; 

- prepayment and extension features; and 

- terms that limit the Company's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non- recourse features). 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the 

prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding which may includ reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. 

Additionally, for a financia l asset acquired at a significant discount or premium to its contractual paramount, 

a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par 

amount plus accrned (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional 

compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the 

prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 

FVTPL including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in statement of profit and 

loss. 

Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

amortised cost method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, 

foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in statement of 

profit and loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in statement of profit 

and loss. 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified 

as at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial 

recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any 

interest expense, are recognised in statement of profit and loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains 

and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised 

in statement of profit and loss. 

c. Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 

Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not 

retain control of the financial asset. 

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet but retains 

either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not 

derecognised. 

Financial liabilities 

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled 

or expire. 

The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under 

the modified terms are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified 

terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 

extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in statement of profit and loss. 

d. Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, 

and only when, the Compimy r.11rrently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it iult:nus 

either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

3.2. Inventories 

The inventories of medical conswnables, drugs and surgical equipments are valued at lower of cost or net 

realisable value. In the absence of any further estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary 

to make the sale, the net realisable value is the selling price. The comparison of cost and net realisable is 

made on an item by item basis. Cost of these inventories comprises of all costs of purchase and other costs 

incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location after adjusting for value added tax wherever 

applicable, applying the first in first out method. 

V 

1/ 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

3.3. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits with an original 

maturity of three months or less which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

3.4. Cash flow statement 

Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby net loss before tax is adjusted for the effects of 

transactions of a non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. 

The cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities of the Company are segregated. Bank 

overdrafts are classified as part of cash and cash equivalent, as they form an integral part of an entity's cash 

management. 

3.5. Revenue recognition 

Revenue from operations 

Revenue from medical and healthcare services to patients is recognised as revenue when the related services 

are rendered unless significant future uncertainties exist. Revenue is also recognised in relation to the 

services rendered to the patients who are undergoing treatment/observation on the balance sheet date to the 

extent of services rendered. 

Revenue is recognised net of discounts given to the patients. 

Revenue from sale of medical consumables and drugs within the hospital premises is recognised when 

property in the goods or all significant risks and rewards of their ownership are transferred to the customer 

and no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount of the consideration that will be derived from the 

sale of the goods and regarding its collection. 

'Unbilled revenue' represents value to the extent of medical and healthcare services rendered to the patients 

who are undergoing treatment/observation on the balance sheet date and is not billed as at the balance sheet 

date. 'Unearned revenue' comprises billings in the excess of earnings. 

Revenue from nursing school 

Revenue from nursing school is recognised when the related services are rendered and the consideration is 

received. 

Other medical and health care services 

Revenue from other medical and health care services are recognized as and when the services are rendered 

in accordance with the terms of the agreements. 

Interest 

For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the effective 

interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over 

the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 

amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating the effective 

interest rate, the Company estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the 

financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not consider the 

expected credit losses. Interest income is included in finance income in the statement of profit and loss. 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

3.6. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if 

any. The cost of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment comprises its purchase price, including import 

duties and other non-refundable taxes or levies, freight, any directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to 

its working condition for its intended use and estimated cost of dismantling and restoring onsite; any trade 

discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase price. Subsequent expenditures related to an 

item of tangible fixed asset are added to its book value only if they increase the future benefits from the 

existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance. Cost includes expenditures directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

Depreciation and amortisation 

The Company depreciates property, plant and equipment over the estimated useful life on a straight-line 

basis from the date the assets are ready for intended use. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the 

lower of estimated useful life and lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives of 

assets for the current and comparative period of significant items of property, plant and equipment are as 

follows: 

Block of assets 

Building 

Electrical installation 

Medical equipment 

Office equipment 

Other equipment including air conditioners 

Furniture and fixtures 

Computers 

Vehicles 

Useful life 

60 years 

10 years 

13years 

5 years 

15 years 

10 years 

3 years 

5 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted 

appropriately. 

The Company believes that the useful life as given above best represent the useful life of the assets based on 

the internal technical assessment and these useful life are as prescribed under Part C of Schedule II of the 

Compnnics Act, 2013 except vehicles where useful life 1.:u11siuereu by management is lower. 

The cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the financial statements upon sale or 

disposition of the asset and the resultant gains or losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

Amounts paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding as of each reporting date 

are recognized as capital advance and the cost of property, plant and equipment not ready for intended use 

before such date are disclosed under capital work- in-progress 

3. 7. Intangible assets 

V 

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment. Intangible assets are 

amortized over their respective estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis, from the date that they are 

available for use. -... 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

The estimated useful lives of intangibles are as follows: 

Block of assets Useful life 

Computer software 3 years 

Amortisation method 

The estimated useful life of an identifiable intangible asset is based on a number of factors including the 
effects of obsolescence, demand, competition and other economic factors (such as the stability of the industry 

and known technological advances) and the level of majntenance expenditures required to obtain the 
expected future cash flows from the asset. 

3.8. Employee benefits 

Short term employee benefits 

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving services are classified as short-term 

employee benefits. These benefits include salary and wages, bonus and ex-gratia. The undiscounted amount 

of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognized as an expense 
as the related service is rendered by the employees. 

Post-employment benefits 

Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified 

contributions to separate entity and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. The Company makes 

specified obligations towards employee provident fund and employee state insurance to Government 
administered provident fund scheme and ESl scheme which is a defined contribution plan. The Company's 

contributions are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss during the period in which the 

employee renders the related service. 

Defined benefit plans 

The Company's gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The Company's net obligation in respect 

of a defined benefit plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned 

and returned for services in the cmrent and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present 
value. The calculation of Company s obligation under the plan is performed periodically by a qualified 

actuary using the projected unit credit method. 

The gratuity scheme is managed by third party administrator. 

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return 

on plan assets ( excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are 
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income (OCI). The Company determines the net interest 

expense (income) on the net defined liability (assets) for the period by applying the discount rate used to 

measure the net defined obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit 

liability (asset), taking into account any changes as a result of contribution and benefit payments. Net interest 

expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 
The Company recognizes gains and losses in the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when 

the curtailment or settlement occurs. 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that 
relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in the statement of profit 
and loss. 

Compensated absences 

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize it in 
future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. Since the employee has 

unconditional right to avail the leave, the benefit is classified as a short term employee benefit. The Company 
records an obligation for such compensated absences in the period in which the employee renders the 

servi ces that increase this entitlement. The obligation is measured on the basis of independent actuarial 
valuation using the projected unit credit method. 

3.9. Borrowing cost 

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing 
costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial period 

of time to get ready for their intended use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing 
costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

3.10. Leases 

The Company's lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for land & buildings and equipment. The 

Company, at the inception of a contract, assesses whether the contract is a lease or not lease. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a time in 

exchange for a consideration. This policy has been applied to contracts existing and entered into on or after 
April I, 2019. 

The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right­

of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 

for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and 
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the 

site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the end of the lease term. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted using the Company's incremental horrowine; rnte. It is remeasuJed when 

there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in 

the Company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the 

Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 

asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that 

have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognizes the lease 

payments associated with these leases as an expense over the lease term. 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

3.11. Earnings per share 

The basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit/ (loss) attributable to equity shareholders 

for the period by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year. 

The Company does not have potential dilutive equity shares outstanding during the year. 

3.12. Income tax 

The Income-tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit and loss except to 

the extent that is relates to an item recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 

asset to be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 

the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 

the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 

liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 

entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or 

their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

Minimum Alternative tax 

According to Section l l SJAA of the Income tax Act, 1961, Minimum Alternative Tax (MAT') paid over 

and above the normal income tax in a subject year is eligible for carry forward for fifteen succeeding 

asi:ei:i:ment year for set-off againsl uu11m1l Income tax liability. The MA'f' credit asset is assessed against the 

entity's normal income tax during the specified period. 

3.13. Impairment 

a. Impairment of financial instruments 

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at 

amortised cost. 

At each reporting date the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit 
impaired. A financial asset is 'credit impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on 

the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes the following observable data: 

v 
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Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the company on terms that the Company would not consider 
otherwise; 

it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or 

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except for the 
following, which are measured as 12 month expected credit losses: 

debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 

other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the 
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition. 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses. 

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. 

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events that 
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date ( or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument 

is less than 12 months). 

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum 

contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk. 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and supportable 

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company's historical experience and informed credit 

assessment and including forward- looking information. 

Measurement of expected credit losses 

Expected credit losses are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 

present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive). 

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount 
of the iissets. 

Write-off 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off ( either partially or in full) to the extent that there 

is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the trade 
receivable does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 

amounts subject to the write off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to 

enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company's procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

b. Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Company's non-financial assets and inventories are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable 

amount is estimated. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

For irnpairmentte ting, as ets that do not generate independent cash inflows are grouped together into cash­
generating units (CG Us). Each CGU represents the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows that 

are largely independent of the cash inflows ofother assets or CGUs. 

The recoverable amount of a CGU ( or an individual asset) is the higher of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the CGU (or the asset) . 

The Company's corporate assets do not generate independent cash inflows. To determine impairment of a 

corporate asset, recoverable amount is determined for the CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

3.14. Provisions and contingencies 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, il is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 

a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset, if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 

received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company 

from a contract are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting the future obligations under the contract. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the present value of lower of the expected net cost of 

fulfilling the contract and the expected cost of terminating the contract. 

3.15. Segment Reporting 

Operating results are regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker ('CODM') who makes 

decisions about resources to be allocated to the segn1ent and assess its perfo1·mance. Segment results that are 

reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated 

on a reasonable basis. 

3.16 Operating Cycle 

Based on the nature of products / activities of the Company and the normal time between acquisition of 

assets and their realisation in cash or cash equivalents, the Company has determined its operating cycle as 

12 months for the purpose of classification of its assets and liabilities as current and non-current. 

3.17 Recent pronouncements: 

On March 24, 2021, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") through a notification, amended Schedule 

III of the Companies Act, 2013. The amendments revise Division I, II and III of Schedule III and are 

applicable from April 1, 2021 . Key amendments relating to Division II which relate to companies whose 

financial statements are required to comply with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 are: 

y 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

Balance Sheet: 

• Lease liabilities should be separately disclosed under the head 'financial liabilities', duly distinguished as 
current or non-current. 

• Certain additional disclosures in the statement of changes in equity such as changes in equity share capital 

due to prior period errors and restated balances at the beginning of the current reporting period. 
• Specified format for disclosure of shareholding of promoters. 
• Specified format for ageing schedule of trade receivables, trade payables, capital work-in-progress and 
intangible asset under development. 

• If a company has not used funds for the specific purpose for which it was borrowed from banks and 
financial institutions, then disclosure of details of where it has been used. 

• Specific disclosure under 'additional regulatory requirement' such as compliance with approved schemes 
of arrangements, compliance with number of layers of companies, title deeds of immovable property not 

held in name of company, loans and advances to promoters, directors, key managerial personnel (KMP) and 
related parties, details ofbenami property held etc. 

Statement of profit and loss: 

• Additional disclosures relating to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), undisclosed income and crypto 

or virtual currency specified under the head 'additional information' in the notes forming part of the financial 
statements. 

The amendments are extensive, and the Company will evaluate the same to give effect to them as required 
by law. 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

4 (i) Property, plant and equipment, capital work-in-progress and intangible assets 

Gross block 

Particulars Asar Additions/ Deletions/ As at Asal 

April 1, 1020 adjustments adjustments March 31, 2021 April 1, 2020 

(A) Tangible assets (owned) 

Freehold land 88.82 88.82 

Building '5,523.22 1.26 6,524.48 1,952.58 

Electrical installation 416,84 8,07 3.02 42 1.89 263.71 

Medical equipment 5,793.63 732.07 5.02 6,520,68 2,725.01 

Office equipment 25.27 - 12.56 12.71 21.72 

Other equipment including air conditioners 1,498.54 37.50 - 1,536.04 679.51 

Furniture and fixtures 512.85 6.64 59.20 460.29 345.07 

Computers 313,ll 25.45 - 338.56 183.16 

Vehicles 42.27 - 4.00 38.27 40.79 

Total tangible assets (A) 15,214.55 810.99 83.80 1.5,941.74 6,211.55 

(B) Capital work-in-progress 8.14 16.98 - 25.12 -

( C) Intangible assets 

Computer software 19.26 . . 19.26 19.26 

Total intangible assets (C) 19.26 . - 19.26 19.26 

Grand total (A+B+c) 15,241.95 827.97 83.80 15,986.12 6,230.81 

~ 

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 

Depreciation/ Depreciation 

Amortisation for Amortisation on 

the year disposals 

- -
254.20 

37.70 l.ll 

433.28 2.60 

2.20 12.39 

96.05 -
34.42 54.73 

73.24 -
1.48 4.00 

932.57 74.83 

. . 

. 

. -

932.57 74.83 

ft in Lakhlll 

Net block 

As at Asal Asal 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

-
2,206.78 

300.30 

3,155,69 

ll ,53 

775 ,56 

324,76 

256.40 

38.27 

7,069.29 

. 

19.26 

19.26 

7,088.55 

~ 

88,82 88.82 

4,317 .70 4,570.64 

121.59 153.13 

3,364,99 3,068.62 

1.18 3,55 

760.48 819,03 

135,53 167.78 

82.16 129,95 

0.00 1.48 

8,872.45 9,003.00 

25.12 8.14 

. 
. . 

8,897.57 9,011.14 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

4 (ii) Property, plant and equipment, capital work-in-prog.--,..ss and intangible assets 

/'{ in 1.aklul 

Gross block Accumulated denreciatioo/amortisarion Net block 

Particulars A~at Additions/ Deletions/ Asat Asal 
Depreciation/ Depreciation 

Asat Asal Asal 

April I, 2019 adjustments adjustments March 31, 2020 April 1, 2019 
Amortisation for Amortisation on 

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 
the year disposals 

(A) Tangible assets (owned) 

Freehold land 88.82 . - 88 82 - - 88.82 88.82 

Building 6,494.12 29.10 . 6,523.22 1,698.53 254.05 - 1,952.58 4,570.64 4,795 .59 

Electrical installation 402.61 33.47 19.24 416.84 245.58 35.98 17.85 263.71 153.13 [57,03 

Medical equipment 5,016.24 809.20 31.81 5,793.63 2,361.65 371-51 8.15 2,725.01 3,068.62 2,654.59 

Office equipment 25.27 - - 25.27 17.76 3.96 - 21.72 3.55 7.51 

Other equipment including air conditioners 1,486.26 12.28 . 1,498.54 582.71 96.80 . 679,51 819.03 903.55 

Furniture and fixtures 489-25 23.60 . 512.85 297,23 47.84 . 345,07 167.78 192.02 

Computers 317.44 48.61 52.94 313.11 161.75 73.94 52.53 183.16 129.95 155.69 

Vehicles 42.28 . 0.01 42.27 38.26 2.53 - 40.79 1.48 4.02 

Total tangible assets (A) 14,362.29 956.26 104.00 15,214.55 S.403.47 886.61 78.53 6,211.55 9.003.00 8.958.82 

(B) Capital work-in-progress 14.73 124.32 130.91 8.14 . . 8.14 14.73 

(C) Intangible assets 

Computer software 19.26 - 19.26 19.26 - . 19.26 . 

Total intangible assets (C) 19.26 . . 19.26 19.26 . . 19.26 . . 

Grand total (A+B-+<::) 14,396.28 1,080.58 234.91 15,241.95 S.422.73 886.61 78.53 6,230.81 9,011.14 8,973.55 

f,--
-~ 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

5 {i) Right of Use Assets 

Gross block 

Category of ROU asset As at 
Additions Deletions 

As at 

April 1, 202) March 31, 2021 

Equipment 595_98 - - 595.98 

Land 37&.65 - - 378.65 

Grand total 974.63 - - 974.63 

Gross block 

Category of ROU asset As at 
Additions Deletions 

As at 

April I , 2019* March 31, 2020 

Equipment 595.98 - - 595.98 

Land 37&.65 . - 378.65 

Grand total 974.63 - - 974.63 

*Reclassified on account of adoption of Ind AS 116. 

Refer note 29 for disclosures related to ROU assets a:id liabilities. 

t =:) 
,-

Accumulated deoreciatioo/amortisation 

As at 
Depreciation Deletions 

As at 

April 1, 2020 March 31, 2021 

121.22 121.21 - 242.43 

20.73 20.73 . 41.46 

141.95 141.94 - 283.89 

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation 

Asat 
Depreciation Deletions 

Asat 

April 1, 2019* March 31, 2020 

- 121.22 . 121.22 

- 20.73 - 20.73 

- 141.95 - 141.95 

~in Lakbs) 

Net block 

Asat As at 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

353.55 

337.19 

690.74 

Net block 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

474.76 

357.92 

832.68 

~ 
---~--eA "-, 

;, . 
,;,C· \ 

"".J l 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Loans 

Particulars 

(Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated) 

(a) Non-current 

To parties other than related parties 

Securi!:( deeosits 

(b) Current 

To parties other than related parties 

ecuri!l de22sits 

Other financial assets 

Particulars 

(a) Non-current 

To parties other than related parties 

Bank dcJ!!!sils (due to mature after 12 months from the re~inl! date) 

(b) Current 

To parties other than related parties 

Unbilled rcvcuuc 

Other assets 

Particulars 

(a) Non-current 

To parties other than related parties 

Prepaid expenses 

Capital advances 

Advance income tax and tax deducted at source, net 

(b) Current 

To pprties other than related parties 

Prepaid expenses 

Advance to vendors 

Balance with government authorit ies 

Other IOMs nnd advances 

Inventories 

Particulars 

(Valued at lower of cost and net realisable value) 

Medical consumables, drngs and surgical instruments 

Less: Provision for write-down to net realisable value 

Trade rccch•nbles 

Particulars 

Unsecured, considered good 

Unsecured, con!idcrcd dQubtfol 

Loss allowance 

Unsecured, considered doubtful 

Net trade rc,,tivobles 

Of the above, trade receivables from related parties are as follows: 

Trade receivables (refer note 3 i) 

ExEected credit loss allowance 

~Gt trndo rc<ch•nblc from rcloled pnrtlcs 

The Company's exposure to credit risk and currency risks, and loss allowances are discJO.sed. in note 36 

The receivables are hypothecated as security as part of working capital facility. 

t In Lakhs 

As at Asat 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

138 90 134,88 

138.90 134,88 

17 16 17. 16 

17,16 17.16 

As nt Asat 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

10. 11 3,78 

10.11 3.78 

115.22 65 33 

115.22 65.33 

As at As at 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

27.43 9.46 

10,54 17 61 

872.39 1.274.43 

910.36 1,301.50 

71 97 45, 18 

44.23 7209 

1,94 5 92 

26.58 9.98 

144.72 133.17 

Asal Asal 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

235.83 275 08 

(24 67) (23 . 17) 

211.16 251.91 

Asat A, at 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

1,979.50 1,839.32 

251.34 254.48 

2,230.84 l,093.80 

(:l51 31) (254.40) 

251.34 (254.48 

1,979.50 1,839.32 

0 89 

0.89 

The Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss on portfolio of its trade receivable The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default rates over the expected life of the trade 

receivable and is adjusted for forward-l ooking estimates At every year end, the historically observed default rates are updated and changes in forward-looking estimates are analysed The expected credit loss 

allowance is based on the ageing of the days the receivables are due and the rates as given in the provision matrix The provision matrix at the end of the reporting period is as follows 

Category 

ESI/COHS/ CHl!MES 

Others 

p 

Within Due Date 

2.91% 

LOO¾ 

Due date to 1 Year More lhun 1 year from 
duednto 

19.68% 54.89% 

1218% 47.18% 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

11 ·•sh nod bank bnlancc.s 

Pa rticu la rs 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand 

Balance with banks 

-On current accounts 

(b) Bank balances other than above 

-On deposit accounts (due to muturc within 12 months of the report ing dole)" 

+ The above deposits are restrictive as they per1ain to bank guarantee. 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent comprise the followings: 

Particulars 

Cash on hand 

Balances with banks 

-On current accounts 

Cash and cnsh eguh•nlcnts in the statement of cosh flows 

12 Equity share capital 

Particulars 

Authorised 

35,000,000 equity shares (March 31, 2020: 35,000,000 equity shares) of ~ IO each, with voting 

rights. 

Issued, subscribed and paid up 

2,92, 78,820 equity shares (March 31, 2020: 2,92, 78,820 of ~ IO each, fully paid up , with voting 

rights. 

Reconciliation of the equity shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year: 

Pnrtiru.lnrs 

Al the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

At the end of the vear 

Rights, preference and restrictions attached to equity shares: 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

8 65 

584.31 

592.96 

27.78 

27.78 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

8.65 

584.31 

592.96 

592.96 

As at 

March 31 2021 

3,500 00 

2,927.88 

2,927.88 

As at March 31, 2021 

Number ofshares 

2,92, 78,820 

2,92,78,820 

(~ in Lnkh~) 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

23,06 

170.17 

193.13 

20. 13 

20.13 

Asal 

March 31, 2020 

2306 

170.17 

193 23 

193,23 

(tin Laklts) 

Asel 

March 31 2020 

3,500 00 

2,927.88 

2,927.88 

Amount 

2,927.88 

2,927.88 

(t In Lakh1) c ccpl number of shores 

As al March 31, 2020 

Number of shares 

2,90,21,300 

2,57,520 

2,92,78,820 

Amount 

2,902.13 

25.75 

2,927.88 

The Company has a single class of equity shares referred to as equity shares having a par value of ~ 10 each Accordingly, all equity shares rank equally with regard to dividend and share in the Company's 

residual assets , Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share, The equity shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is 

subject to the approval of the shareholders in the then ensuing Annual General Meeting 

In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, af\er distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in 

proportion to the number of equity shares held by shareholders, 

Shores held by holding company 

Particulars 

Equity shares of IO ench fully paid up held by 

- Narayana Hrudayalaya Limited 

Particulars of shnrcholderJ holding more than 5% equity ~hnres: 

Particulars 

Narayana Hrudayalaya Limited 

As at March 31, 2021 

Number of shares Amuu.01 

2, 90,24 .467 2,902.45 

As at March 31, 2021 

Number of shares % holding 

2,90,24,467 99, 13% 

(tin Lakhs) except number ofshares 

As at March 31, 2020 

Number of shares Amount 

2,90,24,467 2.902.45 

As at March 31, 2020 

Number of shares % holding 

2,90,24,467 99.13% 

The f'.nmpany has not bounht back •ny ,har"' during tho period offivo yoaro immodiatoly preceding the balance ,heel dale, l'wll,e,, llic Curnµauy lias 11ul issuet! auy l,u11us shares or shares Issued for 

consideration other than cash during the period of five years immediately preceding the balance sheet date, 
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Notes to the tinencial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

13 Other equity 

Particulars 

Reserves and surplus 

Secw-ities premium 

At the commencement of tho year 

Add: Movement during the year 

At the end of the year 

Deemed Capital Contribution 

At the commencement of tho year 

Add: Additions during the year 

At the end of tho year 

Retained earnings 

At the commencement of the year 

Add: Net profit after tax transferred from statement of profit and loss 

Loss: Impact of adoption of IND AS 116 

At tho end of the year 

Other Comprehensive Income 

At tho commencement of the year 

Add: Addition during the year 

At the end of the year 

Securities premium 

(' in Lakhs) 

Asel Asal 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

3,666 25 3,442.00 

224.25 

3,666.25 3,666.25 

14.22 13.65 

0.57 

14.22 14.22 

(220.60) (1,711.42) 

120,17 1,542.25 

51.43 

(I 00.43) (220.60) 

(75,51) (61.21) 

(1.41) (14.30) 

(76.92) (75.SI) 

3,503.12 3,384.36 

Securities premium is used to record the premium received on issue of shares. It is utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 

Retained earnings 

Retained earnings comprises of amounts that can be distributed by the company as divided to its equity shareholders. 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Other Comprehensive Income represents actuarial gain or loss or re-measurement of defined benefits obligation. 

Deemed Capital Contribution 

Deemed capital contribution by Holding Company on account of employee stock options issued to employees. 

14 Borrowin s 

Particulars 

(a) Non-current 

(i) Secured 

Term loans 

From banks (refer note I) 

Less: Current mmurity of l9ng term debt (refer note IS) 

T olnl 11on-cu crcn1 borrowing.s 

Asal 

March 31, 2021 

2,797.14 

(635.24) 

2,161.?0 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

3,557.83 

(901 .72) 
2,656.11 

\ 
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Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

I Term loans rrom bnnko • 

SI 

No, 
Details of repayment terms, interest and maturity Nature of security 

Term loan from State Bank Of India: Nil (previous year: ~ 299 72 Inkhs) It is rcpoitl ln Current 

Finnnc Al Year, (previous year: 2 quarterly instalments) Interest is charged@7,l 5% p.a. (previous 

(i) 
ycnr as on March 3 I. 2020 being 8 70% p.a ) 

Tenn loan from State Bw,k Of India: Nil (previous year: ~ 67 58 lakhs ). It is repaid m Current 

Financial Year, (previous year: 2 quarterly instaJments). Interest is charged@7.15% p,a (previous 

(ii) 
yenr os on March 31, 2020 being 8,70% pa) 

Term loan from State Bank Of India: , 1546, 79 lakhs {prcvlotU year: t 1864.96 lakla). It is 

rcpnyoblc in 15 quarterly instalments from the reporting date i.e. 31 March 2021 (previous year: 19 Tcm1 loan from State Bank Of India, SME Branch, Howrah are secured by equitable mortgage of 3 0832 acre 

qunrtcrly instalments) Interest JS charged@ 7 15% p.a (previous year: u on March 31 , 2020 of lcnschold land (Lease valid till 2036) in the name of compw,y and 5 storey building comprising of old 

(iii) being 8. 70% p.a ) hospitnl at JL No-38 Mouza Poclra, PS Sankrail ranihati , Howrah (on pari-passu basis) Co operative Society 

Ltd, Title deed no 396 of Old hospital purchased by the company & by hypothecation of all movable assets 

including medical equipments, furniture & other miscellaneous fixed assets of the Company including• first 

charge on inventories and trade receivables of the compw,y : and corporate guarw,tee ofNarayana Hryudalaya 

Term loan from State Bank Oflndia: ~ 469,26 lakhs (previous year: ~ 588,99 lnkhs) 1t is repayable Limited (Holding Company) 

in 14 quarterly instalments from the reporting date i.e. 31 March 2021 (previous year: 18 quarterly 

fnstslmcnts). Interest is charged@ 7. 15% p.a. (previous year: Interest is linked lo the base rate phis 

(iv) 0,35% Base rate as on 31 March 2020 being 8 70% p,a ) 

Tem1 loan from State Bank Of India:~ 616 39 lakhs (previous year: ~ 736.58 lakhs) It is 

rcpaynblo in 19 quarterly instalments from the reporting date i.e 31 March 2021 (previous year: 

23 quarterly instalments). Interest is charged@ 7. 15% p.a. (previous year: as on March 31, 2020 

(v) being 8 70% p.a.) 

Torm loan from Axis Bank Ltd: 164 7 Lakhs (previous year ; Nil Lakhs). lt isrepayable in 20 Exclusive security on Robotic equipment purchased out of Term loan/ capex LC, Additioruil movable fixed 

(vi) quarterly instalments (previous year Nil) starting from 16 May 2022. Interest IS charged at 7% assets of the borrower such that total security cover Isl .25x nod C<)t'JlOtate guarantee ofNaraynna Hrudayalnya 

p.a .• (previous year: Nil pa) Limited. 

.. 
II Ovcrdr•rt faciht,c.o: 

(1) Overdm!l from State Bank Of lndin t Nil (provious year: ~ 344.04 lakhs). It is repayable on Overdrnfi from State 13ank oflndia, SME Brw,ch, Howrah are secured by eguitablo mortgage ofJ .0832 aero of 

dciruwt Interest rate is@ 7.15%, (previous year :Interest is linked to the base rate plus 0.35% leasehold lnnd (lease valid till 2036) in the name of Company and 5 storey building comprising of old hospital 

B,uo rate as on J 1 March 2020 being 8,70% p.a.) 11\ JL No-38 Mouza Poclra, PS Sankrail ranihati, Howrah (on pan-passu basis) Co-operative Society Ltd, Title 

deed no 396 of Old hospital purchased by the company & by hypothecation of all movable assets including 

medical equipments, furniture & other miscellaneous fixed assets of the Company including a first charge on 

,nvontorlcs and trade receivables of the company ; and corporate guarantee ofNarayw,a Hryudalaya Limited 

(lloldlns Company) 

"<: 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

15 Lease liabilities 

Particulars 

(a) Non-current 

Lease liability Opening 

Additions during the period 

Finance cost accrued during the period 

Lease payment 

Lease liability Closing 

Less: Current lease liability 

(b) Current 

Current lease liability 

16 Provisions (refer note 34) 

Particulars 

(a) Non-current 

Provision for employee benefits 

Gratuil 

(b) Current 

Provision for employee benefits 

Compensated absences 

17 Trnde >a nbles 

Particulars 

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (refer note 35) 

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 

To related parties 

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (refer note 35) 

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 

18 Other financial liabilities 

Particulars 

Current 

To parties other than related parties 

Current maturities oflong-terrn borrowings* 

Creditors for capital goods 

Others 

To related parties 

Creditors for capital goods 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

834.91 

69.06 

(167.78) 

736.19 

(162.23) 

573.96 

162.23 

162.23 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

25.92 

25.92 

109.30 

109.30 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

125.51 

2,671.68 

2,797.19 

11.14 

11.14 

Asat 

March 31 2021 

635.24 

480.76 

13.37 

1129.37 

*Refer note !4(a) for secured term loans. The Company's exposure to liquidity risk are disclosed in note 36. 

19 Other liabilities 

Particulars 

Current 

To parties other than related parties 

Contract liabilities 

Unearned revenue 

Balances due to statutory/ government authorities 

Interest Accrued but not Due on Long Term Borrowing 

,u.,,J"'·" .-r 

_ _!!:. .. 

As at 

March 31 2021 

220.80 

192.08 

, 711108 - ~ 

. -~--- / 
~ -·· 

(~ in Lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

860.50 

74.19 

(99.78) 

834.91 

(98.72) 

736.19 

98.72 

98.72 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

47.45 

47.45 

124.00 

124.00 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

41.96 

2,521.48 

2,563.44 

2.13 

70.90 

73.03 

As at 

March 31 -2020 

901.72 

99.79 

12.6'/ 

69.22 

1,083.40 

Asat 

Mnrch 31 2020 

cft==--= 

112.74 

94.28 

102.82 

309.84 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

20 Revenue from operations 

Particulars 

Income from medical and healthcare services 

Sale of medical consumables and drugs 

Other operating revenue: 

Revenue from Nursing School 

Refer notes below 

(i) Category of Customer 

Cash 

Credit 

Total 

(ii) Nature of treatment 

In-patient 

Out-patient 

Sale of medical consumables and drugs 

Others 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

16,450.33 

530.97 

137.91 

17,119.21 

8,128.99 

8,990.22 

17,119.21 

12,754.44 

3,695.89 

530.97 

137.91 

17,119.21 

(fin Lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

18,758.38 

702.41 

138.64 

19,599.43 

12,228.51 

7,370.92 

19,599.43 

13,596.07 

5,162.31 

702.41 

138.64 

19,599.43 

(iii) The revenue from rendering Healthcare services and Pharmaceutical products satisfies 'at a point in time' recognition criteria as 

prescribed by Ind AS 115 

(iv) Revenue from sale of medical and healthcare services is net of rebates/ incentives/ discounts for the year ended March 31, 2021. Such 

discount/rebate/incentives amounts to Rs. 1,774.73 Lakhs (Previous Year Rs. 1,149.53 Lakhs ). 

(iv) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations 

Particulars 

Contractual Liabilities 

Contractual Liabilities 

(v) Use of Practical expedients 

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations 

For the year ended 

March 31 2021 

220.80 

(fin Lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31. 2020 

112.74 

The Company has applied the practical expedient with respect to non disclosure of information in respect of remaining performance 

obligations considering the fact that the company's performance obligations, i.e. the treatment in case of healthcare segment has an 

original expected duration of one year or less. 

21 Other income 

Particulars 

Interest income on 

- Bank deposits 

- Income tax Refund 

Miscellaneous income 

22 Changes in inventories of medical consumables, drugs and surgical instruments 

Inventory at the beginning of the year 

Inventory at the end of the year 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

5.10 

73.93 

40.57 

119.60 

251.91 

211.16 

(fin Lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

4.55 

47.65 

52.20 

332.95 

251.91 

81.04 

ff 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

23 Emelol'.ee benefits exeenses (fin Lakhs} 

Particulars 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Salaries, wages and bonus 2,398.32 2,395.60 

Contribution to provident and other funds (refer note 34) 212.35 213.45 

Expense on employee stock option scheme 0.57 

Staff welfare exeenses 23.71 52.47 

2,634.38 2,662.09 

24 Other exl!enses 

Particulars 
For the year ended For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Hospital operating expenses 

Power and fuel 465.19 450.83 

Hospital general expenses 183.74 611.61 

House keeping expenses 524.37 486.77 

Patient welfare expenses 232.77 247.01 

Rent 132.07 150.09 

Medical gas charges 108.99 60.37 

Biomedical wastage expenses 17.44 6.91 

Repairs and maintenance 

- Hospital equipments 436.43 242.91 

- Buildings 126.11 87.90 

- Others 286.86 147.32 

2,513.97 2,491.72 

Administrative expenses 

Traveling and conveyance 43.04 30.95 

Security charges 124.67 121.73 

Printing and stationery 37.18 30.45 

Rent 95.35 63.10 

Advertisement and publicity 296.36 477.66 

Legal and professional fees 23.38 26.77 

Audit fees (refer note (i) below) 9.56 9.56 

Business promotion 56.64 14.81 

Telephone and communication 38.24 28.51 

Bank charges 27.80 39.25 

Insurance 62.23 47.34 

Corporate social responsibility (refer note (ii) below) 26.12 

Rates and taxes 27.39 47.24 

Books and periodicals 10.09 1 I.59 

Provision for loss allowances (3.14) 85,05 

Loss on sale of Property, plant and equipment 5.27 3.15 

Foreign exchange loss, (net) 0.47 1.60 

Miscellaneous expenses 3.79 2.27 

884.44 1,041.03 

3,398.,41 3,532.75 

earc1> "-. 
'·· 

t 
<>wra oil . 

{) 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

(i) Payment to auditors* 

As an auditor 

Audit fee 9.00 9.00 

In other capacity : 

Other services ( certification fees) 0.50 0.50 

Reimbursement of expenses 0.06 0.06 

9.56 9.56 

*excluding goods and service tax 

(ii) Corporate social responsibility 

Consequent to the requirements of Section 13 5 of the Companies Act 2013, the Company has made contributions as stated below. The 

same is in line with activities specified in Schedule VII of the Companies Act, 2013. 

a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year is ~23.34 lakhs (previous year: U.78 lakhs) 

b) Amount spent during the year ended March 31, 2021 on corporate social responsibility activities: 

Particulars 

a) Gross amount required to be spent by Company during the year 

b) Amount spent during the year ( in cash) 

(i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 

(ii) On purposes other than above 

25 Finance costs 

Particulars 

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

- term loans from banks 

- bank overdraft 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 

26 Depreciation and amortisation expense 

Particulars 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (refer note 4) 

Depreciation of Right of Use Assets (refer Note 5) 

[V 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

23.34 

26.12 

26.12 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

242.19 

1.10 

69.06 

312.35 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

932.57 

141.94 

1,074.51 

fin Lakhs 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

2.78 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

370.92 

7.33 

74.19 

452.44 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

.. 

886.61 

141.94 

1,028.55 

&er .. 
~ . 

• •j. 
,U '• " . 

I 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

27 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

(i) Contingent liabilities 

The Company does not have any contingent liability as on March 31 , 2021 (previous year - Nil). 

(ii) Commitments 

Estimated amounts of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (net of advances) and not provided for amounts to · 83.51 lakhs as on March 

31 , 2021 (previous year: 138.75 lakhs). 

28 Segment information 

Operating Segments 

Ind AS 108 "Operating Segment" ("Ind AS 108") establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report information about operating 

segments and related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. Based on the "management approach" as defined in 

Ind AS 108, operating segments are to be reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker 

(CODM). The CODM evaluates the Company's performance and allocates resources on overall basis. The Company's sole operating segment is therefore 

'Medical and Healthcare Services'. Accordingly, there are no additional disclosure to be provided under Ind AS 108, other than those already provided in 

the financial statements. 

Geographical information 

Geographical information analyses the Company's revenue and non-current assets by the Company's country of domicile (i.e. India) and other countries. In 

presenting the geographical information, segment revenue has been based on the geographical location of the customers and segment assets which have been 

based on the geographical location of the assets. Since, the Company has only one geographical location, i.e. India, with respect to location of assets and 

location of customers, further details about geographical information is not applicable. 

Two Customers - WBHS (13.64%) & Swasthyasathi (10.81 %) accounted for more than 10% of the revenue as of March 31, 2021 and No single customer 

accounted for more than 10% of the revenue as of March 31, 2020. 

29 Leases 

The Company has taken various medical equipment, hospital premises, office and residential premises under operating leases. The leases typically run for a 

tem1 ranging from one to thirty three years, with an option to renew the lease after the term completion. The escalation clause in these arrangement ranges 

from 0% to 5%. 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows : 

Particulars 

Not later than I year 

Later than I year and not later than 2 years 

Later than 2 year and not later than 5 years 

Later than 5 years 

(i) The following is the break-up of current and non-current lease liabilities as at March 31, 2021 

Particulars 

Current lease liabilities 

Non-current lease liabilities 

As at 

31 March 2021 

162.23 

573 .96 

736.19 

(ii) The following is the movement in the lease liabilities during the year ended March 31, 2021 

Particulars 

Lease liability Opening 

Additions during the period 

Finance cost accrued during the period 

Lease payment 

For the year ended 

31 March 2021 

834.91 

69.06 

(167.78) 

736.19 

As at 

31 March 2021 

220.04 

220.04 

260.10 

322.35 

fin Lakhs 

As at 

31 March 2020 

98.72 

736.19 

834.91 

tin Lakhs 

For the year ended 

31 March 2020 

860.50 

74.19 

(99.78) 

834.91 

(tin Lakhs) 

As at 

31 March 2020 

t 

167.78 

440.08 

260.10 

322.35 

Rental expense recorded for short-term leases was ~227.42 lakhs for the year ended March 31, 2021 (U13.19 lakhs for the year ended March 31, 2020). 

v 



Meridinn Medicnl Research & Hospitnl Limited 

Notes to the financial stntements for the yenr ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

JO Income tnx 

{!]),\mount ttrng11i1ed in ! lilft"m~u1 ofnrorit JI.ml lou 

Current income tnx 

MAT credit entitlement 

Deferred IRx liRbility / (Rsset) 

Origlm1lion and revc1~1.d ofttmpon:uy ditTecences 

J>cferr~d 11'1.1 c.hnrc;c/ (credit) 

Ch) Amounl r"Sos:nised In 01hcr romnr-ehtnth1r. incom9 

For lhe yeRr ended March 31, 2021 

Before tax 

Re·mcasurc.mcnl on defined ben('fi l pl,ms 

Cd Rccoucitisu ion or efTec;tivs, CRX rnlc 

Profit/ (Loss ) before lox 

Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate (Current year 27 82% and Previous Year 27.82%) 

Tax effect of: 

Expense, no, deducuble for to., pu~ 

Odnred frrx ns,,ecs: nnd linbilitie5 n,·c nuributnhte (o the follow111n! 

Deferred tax asset 
Provision for doubtful receivables 

Provision for gratuity 

Provision for compensated absences 

Provision for slow moving and non moving inventory 

On brought forward loss 

Others 

Total deferred tax asset 

Deferred lax liability 
Excess of depreciation on fixed asset under Income Tax Act, 1961 over 

de reciation under Com anies Act 

Minimum nhtrnAliYe u,x M;.d 

Def(!rrcd Ins: nsu;1 (uc:f) 

V 

(1.95) 

(l .9Sl 

TAX (expense) 

I 

0.54 

Bnlnnce ns at 

April 1, 2020 

7080 

13 20 

34.50 

6 45 

426.47 

15.09 
626,51 

(838 3 I) 

(838,31) 

4U.99 
100.19 

Nel of lnx 

(1.41) 

{1.41) 

Adjustment to 

retained earnings 

For the year ended 

March JI, 2021 

27.25 

(27.25) 

46.S7 

46.57 
46,57 

For the year ended 

March JI, 2020 

365.67 
(365.67) 

596.38 

596,38 

5116.38 

For the year ended March JI, 2020 

Before lax Tax (expense) benefit 

(19,81) 

(.19,81) 

Re-cogni1ed in 

Profit or loss 

during 2020-21 

(chnrge)/credil 

(0.88) 

(6.52) 

(4.09) 

0.41 
(39 78) 

11 67 

P?,191 

(7 38) 

27.:Z.S 

(19.321 

5 51 

5.51 

For the year ended 

31 Mnrch 2021 

166.74 

46.39 

0, 18 

46.57 

Recognised in OCI 

during 2020-21 

0.54 

Net of tax 

(14.30) 

04.30) 

(tin Lnkh>) 

For the yeRr ended 

31 March 2020 

2,138.63 

596,38 

596.38 

(! in Lakht) 

Balance as at 
March 31, 2021 

\ 
0 ., , .. 

. ! " ., 
_,., 

69.92 

7.22 
30.41 

6.86 

386.69 

86.76 

587.86, 

(845 69) 

(845.69) 

439,24 
181.41 



Mcridinn Mcdlc11I Research & Hospitnl Limiled 

Notes lo the rinanclal stRtemenls ror lhe yc11r ended March 31, 202J (conllnucd) 

31 Relnled llDrty disclosures 

(a) Detailsorrclatell llllr1ies 

Nature orrel11llonshl11 

Gut~rorlSC! .hinii.1 · coohol 0\1et' tll" Cornn:m 

Key Mana£emenl Personnel (KMP) 

Key Management Personnel (KMP) or the Holding 

Company 

follo.,, subsidiaries 

A11lK'h11c of~l'"'rnm:c h,}Tlni i;:onlrol 

Enlerprise under conlrol / join1 control of KMP and their 

rel □ tives 

Name or related ponies 

Narti. "41MII Hrudn ·m.111 • ■ l..lmh!!'d tH,c,ldlt11.!. Comt):ltw) 

Rnlt¢j}1 Vc:111111 • Ch1c:f ~(u,dh:c Offi'c.c(' 

Oiviyn J'Phrl •Cihu,,"rFirum~jp,t Ofl'icc r (1ill 1~1y 31, 2020) 

An,h Plln~•11 • Cl1lc( Fin.nncG1 om", (..-..c.J August 4, 2020) 

Hrlth1~i.h V "1unfiy.Compa,1w S«rct1U}' 

Or. Do,i Prn~ Shct\)' • Chnlnmu, 

Or. 'Emrn::rnuc l Rupert• Mn1~9ln;11: Director 

v,ren Pras.:id Shci(,f• \Vho,li;: Time Director 

KtJ.'.W,'\11 Vc:nu~pn.l:i.11- Ch[.cr Finnncial Officer 

S1id11n,-S • Cll'lut1:111y Sti;;tt-t.lH\' 

Nr,10.y'1111t1 lnslitutc for Advanced Research Privale Limited (NIARPL) 

Nonwnm1 Hrudayalayn Surgical Hospital Privale Limiled (NHSHPL) 

t-.11111 , )"'111.1 Hospitals Private Limiled (NHPL) 

N~t.Q,)'4.1111 Heallh lnslitulions Privalc Limilcd (NHIPL) 

Nnrarru10: Cayman Holdings Ltd (NCHL) 

Ni:uar!\1111 Vaishno Devi Specially Hospitals Private Limited (NVDSHPL) 

'Nllllm)'Mlill Holdings Privale Limited (NHDPL) 

llenld1 City Cayman Islands (HCCI) 

NIIJ").rltll Health North America LLC 

N i·I Hc-11llh H:.n A:tadc1ih Pl'ka10 Lhnm•d 

Trimcrl,!t ltidili PriYllto Llm\Wd 

Narayana Hrudaynlaya Founda1io11 

Amaryllis Healthcare Private Limited 

(LI) Transactions with related party during ycur ended 31 March 2021 

frHnsactio'ns Enterprise having conlrol over the Fellow subsidiaries 

Com1mny 

Purchase of medical consumables, drugs and surgical 298,60 

lnstrumenls&Services 
(69,27) 

Narayana Hrndayalaya Limited 

Sale of medical consumables, drugs and surgical 9 68 

instrumcnls & Services 
(2.82) 

Narayana HrudPy □ laya Limited 

Sale of medical consumables, drugs and surgical 

lnstruments&Sen•ices 

Narayana Vaish110 Devi Specially Hospitals Private 
(·) 

Limilcd (NVDSHPL) 

Sale of medical consumables, drugs and surgical 

instruments & Services 

Narayana Hrudayalaya Surgical Hospital Private Limited 
(-) (NHSHPL) 

Reimbursement of Expenses 8,98 

NotD)'llll1.I llrudri)•n,a.)'ft Lltnitcd (· 

Purchase of medic.ii consumables, drugs and surgical 

instmments 

AmarJl\is Hcallhcare Private Limited 
(•) 

P.urch □ seofassets 4 3l 
Narayana Hrudayalaya Limited (167 07 

Sale of assets 2 85 

N;irnymm Hrudayalay;i Limiled (2l 88) 

Issue of equity shores 

Narayana Hrudayalaya Limited 
<250.00 

Rent 

Nnrayana Hrudayalayn Fow1dntio11 (-) 

Discount cntillement 

Narayana Hrudayalaya Fow1dalio11 (-) 

Shor1-tenn employee benefits• 

Rakesh Vcm1a H 

Short-Lerm employee benclils* 

Amit Pandyn (-) 

Short-term employee benefits• 

Diviya Johri (-) 

Short-term employee benefits• 

Hrishikesh V Murthy (·) 

(f In Lakh•) 

Associate or enterJ)rhre EnlerJ)rlse under control/ Key Manogemenl Tola! 

having control joinl control or KMP nnd Personnel (KMP) 

their relallvell 

298.60 

(·) (·) (·) (·) (69.27) 

9 68 

(·) (,) (·) (·) (2,82) 

030 0.30 

(·) (·) (·) (·) (·) 

059 0 l9 

(·) (·} (·) (·) (-) 

8.98 

(-) (-) ( ·) (·) (-) 

107.15 107, ll 

(-) (·) (66.15) (·) (66.15) 

4 3l 
[,) (- (- (- (16707) 

2 Bl 

[ ·) (·) <·l (-) (25.88) 

. 

(·) (·) (-) (-) (250.00) 

140.74 140 74 

(-) (-) (142,61 ) (-) (142,61) 

60.00 60 00 

(-) (-) (60.00) ' (-) ~ (60.00) 

38,71 38 71 

(·) (-) (-l (45.08) (4l.08) 

8.23 8.23 

(·) (-) (·) (-) (-) 

4 l2 4 52 

(·) (-) (-) (16.50) (16 50) 

9. 11 9 II 

(·) (-) (·) (9.55) (9.ll) 

The rc:nu.mi:rahon to KMP dOCt. not 1ncludc lhc pro,1slo11s made for jp'i:U11Lt)' m11.l compensated absences, es 1l.1ay ora abu1mcd t.in an K tl&Dlj11I bm:11 rorthc Comp.iny 1111 "1ho1':. An'IOu.nl 111 8n14kit111cnecr.., doll fo, .)Oflttmdina on 31:St Mluth, 1020 

c) The balances rcceh·oblc from and J)ayablc lo relolcd portles 

BRhmces l!:nlerprise having control over the 

ComJJHilY 

Trade payables 

AlnaJJ'llis Healthcare Private Limited (.) 

Trade payables 

·Nara)'ana Hrudayalaya Limited (70.90) 

Trnde Receivables 
Narayana Vaishno Devi Specialty Hospitnls Private 

Limited (NVDSHPL) M 

Trade Receivables 

Narnyann Hrudayalaya Surgical Hospital Privalc Limited 

(NHSHPL) (-] 

Corporole guarantee give11 by 8,207.00 

Norayona Hrudayalaya Limited (6.807 00) 

No,c,: 
(a) No □ motulls i11 respecl of related parties have been wrillen olT / back or provided for during llte year 

(b) Reloted party relationships have been identified by Lhc Managcme11t and relied upon by the audilors v •A"°' ;,, bcackclS ace for O,e prcv,ous year 

Fellow subsidiaries Associate of enterprise 

having control 

(-) (-) 

. 
(-l (·) 

030 . 

(-) 1-) 

0 59 

(-) (-) 

(-) (-) 

Enterprise under control/ 

joint control or KMP wid 

their relatives 

11 14 

/2. 13) 

(-) 

(·I 

(-) 

(-) 

\ . 
j 
I 

f .,· 
; · 

.,.•· 

Key Management 

Personnel (KMP) 

(tin L ■ ktu 

Total 

11 14 

(-) (213' 

(-l (70 90) 

0 30 

(-) (-) 

059 

(-) (-) 

. 8,207.00 

(-) (6,807.00 



Meridinn Medical Research & Hospitnl Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

32 Earnings per share 

Bnsic nnd diluted enrning per shnre 

Particulnrs 

Proftt after tax 

Weighted average number of equity shares (basic & diluted) 

Shares 

Total no. of shares outstanding 

Effect of shares issued dur.ing the year 

Weighted average number of equity shares for the year 

Basic and diluted Earning per share(~) 

33 Capital management 

(t in lakhs) excepl for share dale 

For the year ended 

Mnrch 31 2021 

120,17 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

2,92,78,820 

2,92, 78,820 

0.41 

For the year ended 

Mnrch 31 2020 

1 542.25 

Asat 

March 31, 2020 

2,90,21,300 

5,629 

2,90,26,929 

5.31 

The Company's policy is to maintain a stable capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. 

Management monitors capital on the basis of return on capital employed as well as the debt to total equity ratio. 

For the purpose of debt to total equity ratio, debt considered is long-term and short-term borrowings. Total equity comprise of issued share capital and all other equity reserves. 

The capita\ structure is as follows: 

Pa rticulnrs 

Total equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company 

As a percentage of total cnpital 

Long-term borrowings including current maturities 

Total borrowings 

As a percentage of totnl capital 

Total cnpitnl (Equity and Borrowh1gs) 

1 •J/ ' 

.. 

'I: in Lnkhs) 

As Ht As at 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

6,431.00 6,3 \2.24 

70% 64% 

2,797. \4 3,557.83 

2,797.14 3,557.83 

30% 36% 

9,228.14 9,870.07 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

34 Employee benefits 

Defined contribution plan 

The Company makes contributions towatds provident fund and employee state insurance to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan for qualifying employees. Under the plan, the 

Company is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. 

The amount 1ecognised as an expense towards contribution to Provident Fund and Employee State Insurance for the year ending March 31, 2021 aggregated to 185.45 lakhs (previous year 

ending March 31, 2020: · 188.45 lakhs) 

Defined benefit plan 

The Company operates a post-employment defined benefit plan that provides gratuity. The gratuity plan entitles an employee, who has rendered at least five years of continuous service, to 

receive one-half month's salary for each year of completed se1vice at the time of retirement/exit. The gratuity fund is managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India .. The Company's 

obligation in respect of the gratuity plan, which is a defined benefit plan, is provided for based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit 

method. The Company recognizes actuarial gains and losses immediately in the statement ofother comprehensive income forming part of the statement profit and loss. 

A. Based on the actuarial valuation obtained in this respect, the following table sets out the status of the gratuity plan and the amounts recognised in the Company's financial statements as at 

balance sheet date: 

Particulars 
As at 

March 31, 2021 

Defined benefit liability 256.74 

Plan assets 230,82 

Net defined benefit liability 25.92 

Liability for Compensated absences 109.30 

Tomi cm11loyee benefit liabllil\• 135.22 

Non-current 25.92 

Current 109.30 

B. Reconciliation of net defined benefit (assets) liability 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the opening balances to the closing balances for net defined benefit (asset) liability and its components 

i) Reconciliation of present values of defined benefit obligations 

Particulars 

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 

Current service cost 

Interest cost 

Benefit payments from plan assets 

Benefit payments directly by employer 

Actuarial (gains) losses recognised in other comprehensive income 

-changes in demographic assumptions 

-changes in financial assumptions 

-experience adj ustements 

Defined benefit obligations at the end of the year 

ii) Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets 

Particulars 

Plan assets at beginning of the year 

Adjustment 

Contt•ibutions paid into the plan 

Expected return on plan assets 

Benefits paid 

Acturial gain on plan assets 

Plan assets at the end of the year 

Net defined benefit liability 

C. i) Expense recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss 

Particulars 

Current service cost 

Interest cost 

Interest income 

ii) Remeasurements recognised in other compherensive income 

Particulars 

Actuarial loss on defined benefit obi igation 

Acturial gain on plan assets 

V 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

236.44 

26.75 

10.27 

(17.58) 

(0.39) 

22.84 

(21 59) 

256.74 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

188.99 

32,81 

10.11 

(1.09) 

230.82 

25.92 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

26.75 

10.27 

(10.1 1) 

26.91 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

0.86 

1.09 

1.95 
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fin Lakhs 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

236.44 

188.99 

47.45 

124.00 

171.45 

47,45 

124.00 

(fin Lakhs) 

Asat 

March 31, 2020 

202.48 

27.01 

9.84 

(20.11) 

2.92 

0.02 

14.28 

236.44 

(fin Lakhs) 

Asat 

March 31, 2020 

182.43 

17.21 

12,04 

(20, 11) 

(2.58) 

188.99 

47.45 

(fin Lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

27.01 

9.84 

(12.04) 

24.81 

(fin Lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31 2020 

17.22 

2.58 

19.80 



Meridian Medical Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 (continued) 

D. Plan Assets 

Plan nsscts comprises of the following: 

Particulars 

Government bonds 

The nature ofassetsalloonlion of plan assets is tn government bond of high credit nl ting. 

Defined Benefit obligations 

i) Actuarial assumptions 

The following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 

Principal actuarial assumptions 

Attrition rate 

Discount rate 

Expected rate of return on plan assets 

Mortality rate 

Future salary increases 

Assumptions rcgnrding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

The expected contributions to the fund during the year ending 31 March 2022, will be approximately n7.33 lakhs 

Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation 

Particulars 

1st following year 

2nd following year 

3rd following year 

4th following year 

5th following year 

Year6 to 10 

More than 10 years 

ii) Sensitivity analysis 

For the year ended 

Mnrch 31, 2021 

230;82 

230.82 

(~ in L11khs) 
For the year ended 

March 31 2020 
188,99 

188.99 

As at As at 

M.nrch 31. 2021 Mnrch 31 2020 
Up to Love) 6 = 44%, Up to Level 6 = 44%, Level 

Level 7 and above= 22% 7 and above= 16% 

4.41% 

6.70% 

5.35% 

6.70% 

IALM (2012-14) Ultimate !ALM (2012-14) Ultimate 

First year 7.90% 

Thereafter 6% 

First year 0% 

Thereafter 6% 

io Lnkbs 

Amount 

98.44 

62.41 

41.29 

26.96 

23.46 

25.90 

5.11 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the 

amounts shown below. 

Particulars 

Discount rate (0.5% movement) 

Future salary increases (0 .5% movement) 

Attrition rate (0.5% movement) 

Monnli1y rate ( 10% movement) 

March 31, 2021 

Increase 

(2.94) 

3.00 

(0,22) 

0.00 

Decrease 

3.02 

(2.94) 

0.21 

(0.01) 

March 31, 2020 

Increase Decrease 

(2.54) 2,64 

2.61 (2.54) 

(0.18) 0.21 

0.02 0.01 

Although the analysis does not lake account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown. 

35 Due to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 

The Ministry of Micro, mnll and Medium Enterprises has issued nn office memomndmn dated 26 August 2008 which recommends that the Micro and Small .Enterprises should mention in 
their CQ rrespondenee with its customers the Entrepreneurs Memorandum Number as llocated nller liling of the Mcrnomndum. Accordingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable 

to such enterprises as at 31 Mnrch 2021 has been made in the financial statements based on infomuuion received ond nvailabl.c with U1e Company. Further !n view of the managemcnl, the 

impact ofintcresr, ifn.ny, tbnt may be payable in nccordancc with the provisions of the Micro, Small nnd Medium EJucrprises Development Act, 2006 ('The MSMED Act') is not expected 10 

be mn1erinl. The Company hns not received nny claim for interest from nny suppl ier. 

Particulars 

The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the end of the year 

-Principal 

-Interest 

The amount of interest paid by the buyer RS per the MSMED Act 

The amount of payments made 10 micro and small suppliers beyond the appointed dny during the nccounling year; 

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed 

day during the year) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED Act; 

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year 

The amount of funher interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest dues as 

above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under the MSMED Act 

V ,,. 
I \ 

,, .. _:) 

As at 

March 31 2021 

136.49 

0.16 

0.16 

in Lukhs 

Asal 

Murch 31, 2020 

43.84 

0.25 

0,25 



Meridian MedicRI Research & Hospital Limited 

Notes to lhe finKncinl statements fo1· the year ended March 31, l021 (continued) 

J6 Fimmcinl instruments: Fail· value nnd risk mnnngements 

A. Accounling classUicntion end fair values 

A, at MRrch 31, 2011 

F1mmclnl a.u:eJs 

Trade receivables 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Bank balances other than above 

Loans 

011m nnnn< •las••ts 

Fi11ar,clal liabilities 

Borrowings 

Lease liabilities 

Trade payables 

Other financial liabilities 

As nt Mnrrh JI, 20.20 

F1m111c1"/ assets 

Trade receivables 

Cas~ and cash equivalents 

Bank balances other than above 

Loans 

Other financial assets 

nmwclnl liabUitil!l· 

Borrowings 

Lease liabili1ies 

Trade payables 

Other financial liabilities 

Mensul'ement of fair vnlues 

The carrying value or all financial assets approximates the fair value; feir value of mutual funds are based on quoted price. 

B. Financial risk rnlmAeernent 

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. 

(i) Risk mnnagement framework 

rVTl'L 

FVTPL 

(tin Lakhs) 

An1u1·d1td cotl Tolnl 

i,979,50 1,979.50 

592.96 592 96 

27.78 27.78 

156 06 

2,161.90 2,161 90 

736.19 736. 19 

2,808.33 2,808.33 

1.129.J7 1129.37 

6 S,79 6,835.79 

Atr1orllltd cot l Tornl 

1,839,32 1,839,32 

193.23 193,23 

20, 13 20.13 

152,04 152,04 

69, 10 69, 10 

2 273,82 2,173.82 

2,656. I 1 2,656,11 

834,91 834.91 

2,636.47 2,636.47 

I 083.~0 1,083.40 

7,2 10.89 7,210.89 

The CornP-Viy's risk management is c1111ricd oul by a central treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors, The Board supervises overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as 
foreign exchanS,e risk, credit risk and mo or (mancial instruments. 

(ii) Credit risk 

Credi! risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligation under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to financial loss. The credil risk arises principally from its operating activities (primarily trade 

receivables) and from its investing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions e.nd other financial instrumenls 

Credit risk is controlled by analysing credit limits and creditworthiness of customers on a continuous basis to whom credit has been granted after obtaining necessary approvals for credit. The collection from the trade receivables are 

monitored on a continuous basis by the receivables team 

The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of expected losses in respecl of trade and other receivables based on the past and 1he recent collection trend The maximum exposure to credit risk as 

at reporting date is primarily from trade receivables net of provision for doublful receivables amounting lot 1979 50 lakhs (31 March 2020: f 1839.32 lakhs). The movement in allowance for impairment in respect or trade and other 

receivables during the year was as follows : 

Allowance ror credil loss 

Opening balance 

lmpi:om1cn1 loss (1tvcrscd) I 1~og11i.sed 
Closin bn.ltiu<'C! 

Asal 

JI Mnrch 2021 

2S4.48 

(). 14) 
251.34 

tin Lakhs 

Asat 

31 Mor<h 2020 

169.4] 

ss.os 

Two Customers; WBHS (\3 64%) & Swasthyasathi (10 81%) accounted for more than 10% of the revenue as of 31 March 2021 and No single customer accounled for more than 10% of the revenue as of 31 March 2020. 

Credit ri sk on cash and cash equivalents is limited as the Company generally transacts with banks and financial institutions 'Nith high credit ratings assigned by international and domestic credit rating agencies 

(iii} Liquidity lisk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that lhe Company will encowiter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial linbilities that a.re settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company's approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet ils liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring wiacceptable losses or risking damage to 

lhP, rnmpRny',;; n>:pntafinn 

The Company believes that the working capital is sufficient to meet its current requirements Accordingly, no liquidity risk is perceived. In addition, the Company maintains line of credits as stated in Note 14 

Th~ 1~lc- below provides details regardu,3: the und1Xoun1~ contnc-tu11I 1muu,iues. of :El{f.Ui fic a.111 financial liabilities as of 31 March 2021 . 

PnrlknlRn Less thRII 1 yrti1• 

Oorro¼ings 635.24 

Lease liabilities 162 23 

Trade payables 2,808.33 

Olher financial Habili1fos 1,129.37 

Total 4,7J5.l7 

The table below p,ovtdcs details '1<8DTding tho undl!count~ con1mctu,;ll maturities of srgnifican1 financial liabilities llS or l 1 M~uch 2020: 

PA.rtirulaN ~ u 1htu1 I yenr 

Bonowiniµ 627,00 

Lease liabilities 98 72 

Trade payables 

Olhcr ri 1111r1ciol liabili1 ies 
To1nl 

(iv) Mnrket risk 

2,636 46 

l-,083.40 

1-2yt.nl'I 

697.9<1 

176.90 

874,84 

l • 2ycnrs 

66S.OO 

339.14 

l.00.J.14 

Market risk is the risk rhat the fair va.Jue of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, such as fora-{ 

V 

l~S-yl'nn more 1hnn 5 ye,111-i 

1,439 26 24.70 

195 87 201.19 

1,635. IJ 225.89 

2-SyHr'I more than 5 yt.ftl"I 

I.J64.l 1 
195,87 201.18 

1,559.98 201,18 

_sf~ 
. 

(tin u,kli,) 
Taud 

2,797.14 

736.19 

2,808.33 

1129.37 

7,471.0l 

{f In Lllkhs) 

To1al 

2,656.11 

834.91 

2,636.46 

1.083.40 

7,210.88 



Me1idiRn Medicid Research & Hospital Limited 

Noles to the rinnncial statements ror lhe yenl' ended March 31 1 2021 (continued) 

Cash Oow ,md fnir vftlue interest nte risk 

The Company's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk 

(n) Interest nte 1isk u.posure 

The exposure of the Company's borrowing to interest rate changes at lhe end of the repor1inc period wilh respect to long term borrowings with variable interes t rates from banks are as follo.....s : 

Pnrticulnrs 

Vnri~bte rn1c tong term bortO\\;ng,s lncludl.ns curtcnt ff'Hllurities 
T<il!d borrowings 

b St'.nsi tivh 

ParticulArs 

S=l•iYl•t 
1% increase in base rate 

1% dccrme in base r1.tci. 

The intcresl ,a.ti!! sct1.sitivity i, b#scd on the closing balW1ce or secu~d term loJll$ fmm banks 

Impact on prolit or loss 

Asnt 
31 Mnr<h 2021 

(27.97) 

27.97 

Asnt 
31 Mn,·ch 2020 

(35 58) 

J5.S8 

fin Lokhs 

As At A.,., 
JI Morch 2021 31 March 2010 

2,797. 14 

2,797.14 

Impact on olhtr 
components of equlty 

J.SS7.Sl 

J,557.83 

lnLaklu 

Asat Asnt 

JI Morch 2021 31 March 2010 

(27.97) 

17.97 

(JS 58) 

JS.S8 

37 On.Mlill'Ch 11, 2020, tbc World Ht'l-;1 l1h Orpniu1ion dl!cl:m.•d COVTD- 19 a Wob:n.1 ptwdcmlc and suggcs-ted guidelines for containment and mitigation worldwide. Whilst QI ofFY2021 was severely impacted due to the pandemic, the 

Co1npnny's openllion.u tnn,d 10 u,1ldu~I)' inc: reMe during Ql nnd Q3 ofFY21 C'OnSOClut'nl 10 the rcduc1ion of the impact of the pandemic. With the increase in the severity of the outbreak towards the end ofQ4 ofFY2l and 

JUbse<l!J'l!nt to 31 Mrirth 202 1. dw1ttdo b'O\'on1111en1$ ht1v.e rc-i"'posed \·Jlfiout rcs1rlc,iohs :ind lockdowns. 

l11e p:vidomlc hns imp:le'lcd 1he OJK"rolions of th~ CompJll.Y durinu. 1hc yea, t':ndrd Mf'Jrch J I. 202.l and the Com11any CQtUinues 10 acdwly nam,gc us business. including 1ak.lng v1uious in1 11nth'ff 10 optim,so cosl5: and mett i1s 
financ:i ■ J tonm~111,V1IJj duly considering 1J1 c evolvulg m11ure of the 9Mdtm1c. artd tho. e:ltimn:u.~d dunulon of ll$ imµnc:L At l!I MMch 31. 2021, the Manaaemcm has used imeinl1l .-.nd exicrnnJ -50Uf'°'5" or in(onm,tion \Jplo llu~ dine or 

n.pp,ov.nl of these finw,ci11l ~11,1.1eme:ms, intludi ns: 1VllilabilltyofbMkin.g focili1ies ror nu1inuuning liquidity fot its opern,ions~ fn d01ermlnlng the ntp11tt orCOVI0-1 9 p1111dcmlc. The Minag,emaH has: wed 1he pn nciplcsofpl'\ldCnce 

in dcvclopini;, eseimtucs. Wumpli0l"l1', e-x~rci,ingjudc,emrnt1 Md pcrfonnlnss·ensitlvity aniUys1s.. The Coo,pany AS.of the reporting da.te docs not C!Xp«t any long term adVtr~ 11npac.c or COVID-19 on hs abt lity 10 rteovct lhc 

catrylng v11luc of usot:s a.nd meerma its fim,.nqinl obli~tiont, 

The eventual outcome of the impact of the pandemic may be d[ffercnl (ro,n that estimated as on the date of approval of these financial statements and any significant impact of lhese changes would be recognized in the financial 

statements as and when these material changes to economic condftl0t1$ rise. 

38 Code on Socinl Secuiity 2020 

The Code on Social Security, 2020 ("lhe Code") ""'1ich would impact the contributions by the Company towards Provident Fund and Gratuity has received Presidential assent in September 2020 The Code have been published in 

the Gazette of lndia However, the date from which the Code will come into effect has not been notified The Ministry of Labour end Employment (Ministry) has released draft rules for the Code on November 13, 2020 and has 

invited sugcestions from stakeholders which are under active consideration by the Ministry The Company will complete its evaluation and will give appropriate impact in its financial statements in the period in which the Code 

becomes effective and the related rules are publ ished 
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